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I. INTRODUCTION 

This is a judicial review of an agency order brought under the 

Administrative Procedure Act (APA) , RCW 34.05. Appellant Robert 

Edelman filed a complaint against the Secretary of State alleging that the 

Secretary's practices concerning voter registration and maintenance of the 

statewide voter registration list have resulted in multiple violations of the 

federal Help America Vote Act (HAVA), 42 U.S.C. §§ 15301 - 15545. 

Mr. Edelman alleges that the Secretary and county auditors are 

accepting voter registration applications from individuals who will not be 

of voting age by the next election. These underage registrations are 

creating inaccuracies in the statewide voter registration list in violation of 

HA V A, and in some cases underage applicants have received and cast 

ballots. Additionally, Mr. Edelman alleges that the State's mail-in voter 

registration form omits statements required by HA V A. 

The matter was assigned to an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) 

who denied the complaInt. Upon administrative review, the Reviewing 

Officer issued a Final Determination adopting, with minor modifications, 

the findings and conclusions of the ALJ, and dismissed the complaint. Mr. 

Edelman sought judicial review by the Thurston County Superior Court 

under the AP A. After additional briefing and arguments by counsel, Judge 

Anne Hirsch affirmed the order of the Secretary. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

(1) Assignments of Error 

1. The Thurston County Superior Court erred in denying the 

Petition for Review and entering its Order Affirming Administrative 

Decision of October 23,2009. 

2. The Secretary of State, through its Reviewing Officer, erred 

In denying Mr. Edelman's complaint in its Final Determination of 

September 12,2008.1 

3. The Secretary erred in making Finding of Fact No. 3.7~ 

4. The Secretary erred in making Finding of Fact No. 3.9. 

5. The Secretary erred in making Finding of Fact No. 3.11. 

6. The Secretary erred in making Findings of Fact 25(b)-(d). 

7. The Secretary erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 4.3. 

8. The Secretary erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 4.4. 

9. The Secretary erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 4.6. 

10. The Secretary erred in entering Conclusion of Law No. 4.8. 

(2) Issues pertaining to the Assignments of Error 

1. Does the Secretary of State's practice of accepting and 

pending underage voter registration applications until the voter reaches the 

age of eligibility violate the mandate in the Help America Vote Act that 

1 The Initial Decision and Final Detennination are attached in the Appendix. 
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the chief elections officer maintain an accurate statewide voter registration 

list? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1,2,3,5,7,8.) 

2. Does the Help America Vote Act require the SecretaI?' of 

State to prevent entry of ineligible voters to the statewide voter 

registration list and do the Secretary's list maintenance efforts satisfy the 

requirement of an accurate list? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1,2,4,6,8.) 

3. Does the Secretary of State's practice of "pending" 

underage voter registration applications violate the requirement in the 

Help America Vote Act that elections officials enter voter applications to 

the statewide list on an expedited basis, or does it require that underage 

applications be rejected? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1,2,9.) 

4. Does the Washington State mail-in voter registration form 

violate the Help America Vote Act? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1,2, 10.) 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Facts 

Robert Edelman is a registered voter from Black Diamond, 

Washington, and volunteers as a senior research analyst for the Evergreen 

Freedom Foundation, a not-for-profit public policy organization. 

Administrative Record ("AR") 0001. Among its activities, the Foundation 

publishes research and recommendations for ensuring the accuracy of the 
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electoral process, and Mr. Edelman devotes his time to reviewing election 

procedures to identify flaws that reduce the accuracy of voting results. 

Clerk's Papers (CP) 40. 

In a review of the statewide voter registration database, Mr. 

Edelman discovered 16,085 underage registrations between January 2000 

through March 2008. AR 0003. An "underage registration" is one where 

the registrant will not turn 18 on or before the day of the next election. 

Further analysis revealed 127 votes cast by probable underage individuals 

between January 2000 and February 2008. AR 0004. 

The processing of voter registration applications IS handled by 

county auditors. AR 0952. Counties sometimes receive registration 

applications from applicants who will not turn 18 before the next election. 

Id. The Secretary has allowed auditors to accept these underage 

applications. Id. The auditor will "pend" the underage application in one 

of two ways: physically placing the registration application in a drawer, or 

adding the applicant to the local election management system under a 

"pending" status.2 AR 0431, 0953. When the applicant is of voting age, 

the auditors are expected to either add the information from the 

registration application into the county election system, or if the applicant 

2 The Secretary uses the word ''pend'' to mean placing a record in "pending status." 
"Pending status" is defined to mean a voter registration record is not yet complete, and 
the applicant is not yet a registered voter. WAC 434-324-005( 1 0). 
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has been already entered electronically, place the applicant on "active" 

status. AR 0432,0953. 

Among its provisions, the Help America Vote Act (HA VA) 

requires each state's chief election officer to create and maintain a 

computerized statewide voter registration list. 42 U.S.C. § 15483. This 

section provides minimum guidelines for the maintenance of voter 

registration records. 

HA V A requires states to establish a state-based administrative 

complaint procedure to allow any person who believes there is a violation 

of HA VA to bring a complaint. 42 U.S.C. § 15512. The Washington 

Legislature directed the Secretary of State to adopt rules governing the 

complaint procedure. The State's administrative complaint procedures for 

HA V A violations are found in chapter 434-263 WAC. Complaints filed 

under WAC 434-263 are treated as brief adjudicative proceedings under 

the AP A. WAC 434-263-030. 

On June 13, 2008, pursuant to WAC 434-263-020, Mr. Edelman 

through counsel filed an administrative complaint against the Office of the 

Secretary of State, alleging multiple violations of HA V A. AR 0001-09. 

Specifically, Mr. Edelman's complaint alleged: (1) allowing county 

election officials to add ineligible, underage voters to the official statewide 

voter registration list as active voters violates the duty to maintain an 
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accurate list, 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(4); (2) allowing county election 

officials to delay entry of registration information into the statewide voter 

registration list violates the obligation to enter registration information on 

an "expedited basis," 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(1)(A)(vi); and (3) Washington 

State's official mail-in voter registration form does not include a statement 

required by 42 U.S.C. § 15483(b)(4)(A)(iii). AR 0002. 

The complaint requested the following remedies be required of the 

Secretary of State: (1) establish a written procedure requiring staff to 

examine all mail-in registration forms received by the Secretary of State's 

office and reject those where the applicant will not reach the age of 

eighteen by the next election; (2) advise county auditors in writing that it 

is illegal to register an applicant who will not reach the age of eighteen by 

the next election, it is illegal to delay entry of registration data for eligible 

applicants, and that applications from ineligible registrants should be 

rejected; (3) add automatic controls to the voter registration list so that no 

underage registration can be given active status; (4) add the statement 

required in 42 U.S.C. § 15483(b)(4)(A)(iii) to the State mail-in registration 

forms, and destroy existing non-compliant forms; and (5) take any other 

action that shall be deemed necessary to bring the State of Washington 

into compliance with HAVA's voter database requirements. AR 0008. 
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B. Procedural History 

The Secretary of State scheduled the matter for a brief adjudicative 

proceeding and Administrative Law Judge Rebekah R. Ross was 

designated as the presiding officer pursuant to WAC 434-263-050(1)(e). 

AR 0010-12. After each party presented its views in written argument and 

exhibits, oral argument was conducted by telephonic conference on 

August 15, 2008. AR 1132. On August 19, 2008, Judge Ross issued an 

Initial Decision, entered findings of fact and conclusions of law, and 

dismissed the complaint. AR 0951-59. 

On September 5, 2008, Mr. Edelman requested an administrative 

review of the ALJ's Initial Decision. AR 0961-63. Pursuant to WAC 434-

263-070 the Secretary of State designated Director of Elections Nick 

Handy as the Reviewing Officer. AR 1035. In his request for 

administrative review, Mr. Edelman requested that the Secretary and his 

elections staff be disqualified for prejudice and a neutral officer be 

appointed to conduct the review. AR 0963. Mr. Edelman also filed a 

request to admit new evidence to the record, most of which became 

available through public records requests after the ALJ's Initial Decision 

issued. AR 1050-55. 

On September 12, 2008, the Reviewing Officer issued a Final 

Determination, granting in part and denying in part the requested relief. 

7 



.. 

AR 1091-1104. Before addressing the substance of the complaint, the 

Final Determination addressed the two preliminary matters. First, the 

Reviewing Officer denied Mr. Edelman's request to disqualify himself. 

AR 1094.3 Second, the Reviewing Officer agreed to supplement the record 

and admit five new exhibits into evidence, in the interest of creating a 

more complete record. AR 1097. The Reviewing Officer entered several 

findings of fact based upon the additional exhibits. AR 1098. 

The Reviewing Officer then turned to the substantive claims raised 

in the complaint, adopting by reference all findings of fact and conclusions 

of law set forth in the Initial Decision. AR 1102, ,-r 32. 

The Final Determination made two modifications to the Initial 

Decision. AR 1102. First, the Reviewing Officer concluded-"as a matter 

of policy, not legal requirement"-that there was merit to modifying the 

voter registration form to include the statement in 42 U.S.C. § 

15483(b)(4)(A)(iii). AR 1102, ,-r 33. The Reviewing Officer instructed the 

staff of the Elections Division to consider the matter and provide him with 

written analysis and recommendations for modifying the form.4 Id. 

In the second modification to the Initial Decision, the Reviewing 

Officer concluded that "practices and procedures designed to both 

3 This issue is not raised on appeal. 
4 The subsequent recommendation developed by the Election Division is not 

contained within the record. A judicial review of agency action is generally confmed to 
the record developed before the agency. RCW 34.05.558. 
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minimize registration and voting by ineligible voters and to maximize 

registration and voting by eligible voters could be improved by developing 

carefully written practices and procedures." AR 1102, ~ 34. The 

Reviewing Officer directed the staff of the Elections Division to develop 

by January 5, 2009, written practices and procedures for use in screening 

voter registrations, checking for and removing underage voters from the 

registration list, and communicating with county auditors and prosecutors 

regarding potential or actual underage voting. AR 1102-03. He did not, 

however, direct staff to begin rejecting underage registrations, and made 

no determination that such rejections would be legally mandated. 

Pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, RCW 34.05, Mr. 

Edelman timely filed a Petition for Judicial Review in Thurston County 

Superior Court on October 8, 2008. CP 14-37. After additional briefing 

and argument by counsel, Judge Anne Hirsch affirmed the order of the 

Secretary and entered her Order Affirming Administrative Decision on 

October 23,2009. CP 99-100. Judge Hirsch admitted no new evidence to 

the record. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

In a judicial review under the Administrative Procedure Act, the 

appellate court "sits in the same position as the superior court and reviews 
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the [administrative] decision by applying the standards of review in RCW 

34.05.570 directly to the agency record." Postema v. Pollution Control 

Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 68, 77, 11 P.3d 726 (2000). This Court reviews 

''the agency's findings of fact and not the superior court's findings." Kelly 

v. State, 144 Wn.App. 91, 95, 181 P.3d 871, review denied, 165 Wn.2d 

1004 (2008). The burden of demonstrating the invalidity of agency action 

is on the party asserting invalidity. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a). 

Mr. Edelman argues that the Secretary "erroneously interpreted 

[and] applied the law," and that "[t]he order is not supported by evidence 

that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the 

court .... " RCW 34.05.570(3)(d) and (e). 

On review of administrative interpretation and application of law, 

the court determines the meaning and purpose of a statute de novo, 

although courts give sub~tantial weight to an agency's interpretation if the 

statute the agency administers is ambiguous. Pub. Utility Dist. No. 1 v. 

State Dep't of Ecology, 146 Wn.2d 778, 790, 51 P.3d 744 (2002). A 

statute is ambiguous if it is susceptible to more than one meaning. In re 

Sehome Park Care Ctr., Inc., 127 Wn.2d 774, 778, 903 P.2d 443 (1995). 

However, an agency's interpretation of a statute will not be accorded 

deference if it conflicts with the statute. Postema, 142 Wn.2d at 77. 
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Findings of fact are reviewed under the "substantial evidence" 

standard. RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). Neither an appellate court nor the 

superior court crafts it own findings on the administrative record, Kelly, 

144 Wn.App. at 95, but looks to determine whether the agency's order is 

"supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the 

whole record .... " RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). Substantial evidence is 

"evidence in sufficient quantum to persuade a fair-minded person of the 

truth of the declared premises." Heinmiller v. Dep't of Health, 127 Wn.2d 

595, 607, 903 P.2d 433 (1995) (citations omitted). Resolving a mixed 

question of law and fact requires "establishing the relevant facts, 

determining the applicable law, and then applying that law to the facts." 

Tapper v. State Employment Sec. Dep't, 122 Wn.2d 397, 403, 858 P.2d 

494 (1993). 

B. The Secretary of State's Practice of Accepting and Pending 
Underage Voter Applications is a Violation of HA VA's 
Requirement to Maintain an Accurate Statewide Voter 
Registration List 

The fundamental question here is whether HA VA, specifically 42 

U.S.C. § 15483, places an affirmative duty on the Secretary of State to 

prevent ineligible registrations. Mr. Edelman argues that it does. Mr. 

Edelman further argues that the Secretary's failure to prevent underage 

registrations has resulted in adding thousands of ineligible voters to the 
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system, and some of those individuals have voted in past elections. The 

Secretary contends that HA V A only requires reasonable efforts to correct 

inaccuracies in the voter registration list. 

The duty to prevent ineligible registrations can be understood in 

light of Congress' motivation when enacting HA V A. HA V A was passed 

in 2002 in response to the controversy surrounding the 2000 presidential 

election-specifically the protracted litigation and vote recounts in 

Florida. Sen. Christopher Dodd (D-CT), one of the principal Senate 

authors of HA V A, spoke of the "deep embarrassment" this chaos brought 

to a nation that is viewed as a "beacon light of self-government." 148 

Congo Rec. S10413 (daily ed. Oct. 15, 2002). Rep. Robert Ney (R-OH), 

the prime sponsor of HA V A, observed that the problems in Florida 

revealed "widespread" problems across the nation. 148 Congo Rec. H7837 

(daily ed. Oct. 10, 2002). 

This bipartisan concern led Congress to mandate a major upgrade 

of states' electoral systems. A primary objective was to protect the 

integrity of the electoral process. Sen. Dodd said the credibility of 

Congress depended on "the American people's belief in the integrity of 

the election system .... " 147 Congo Rec. S13681 (daily ed. Dec. 19, 

2001). Rep. John Lewis (D-GA), a HA VA co-sponsor and civil rights 

leader, spoke of the tragedy of denying the right to vote with inaccurate 
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voting lists, confusing ballots, and out-of-date voting machines, and he 

called HA V A ''the most important voting rights bill since the passing of 

the Voting Rights Act in 1965." 147 Congo Rec. H9290 (daily ed. Dec. 12, 

2001). 

The resulting legislation identified three specific purposes: (1) to 

"provide funds to States to replace punch card voting systems", (2) to 

"establish the Election Assistance Commission to assist in the 

administration of Federal elections", and (3) to "establish minimum 

election administration standards for States .... " Public L. No. 107-252, 

116 Stat. 1666 (2002). 

1. HA V A requires the Secretary to create and maintain an 
accurate statewide voter registration list, which includes 
the duty to prevent ineligible registrations 

As a first line of defense against election error and fraud, HA V A 

required states to create a "single, uniform, official, centralized, interactive 

computerized statewide voter registration list . . . that contains the name 

and registration information of every legally registered voter in the State." 

42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(1)(A). This list serves as the "single system for 

storing and managing the official list of registered voters throughout the 

State." 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(I)(A)(i). HA VA charges states with the duty 

to maintain an "accurate" voter list, 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(4), including 

13 



"[ a] system of file maintenance that makes a reasonable effort to remove 

registrants who are ineligible to vote." 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(4)(A). 

Washington State gives the Office of the Secretary of State the 

responsibility for creating ~d maintaining the statewide voter registration 

list and complying with HA VA. RCW 29A.08.125(1). 

Among other eligibility factors, the voting age in Washington is 

18.5 Individuals, however, can register to vote at the age of 17 provided 

they will be 18 by the next election. RCW 29A.08.21O(9). Mr. Edelman 

contends that the Secretary has violated HA V A by allowing county 

elections officials to accept and process applications from individuals who 

will not be 18 by the next election. 

The State's voter registration practices were identified by the 

uncontested findings of the Administrative Law Judge (subsequently 

adopted by the Reviewing Officer). As discussed above, county auditors 

sometimes receive registration applications from applicants who will not 

turn 18 before the next election. AR 0952. The auditor will pend the 

underage application by either physically placing the registration 

5 "QUALIFICATIONS OF ELECTORS. All persons of the age of eighteen years or 
over who are citizens of the United States and who have lived in the state, county, and 
precinct thirty days immediately preceding the election at which they offer to vote, except 
those disqualified by Article VI, section 3 of this Constitution, shall be entitled to vote at 
all elections." WASH. CONST. art. VI, § 1. 
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application in a drawer, or adding the applicant to local election 

management system under a pending status. AR 0431,0953. 

The ALl concluded that the practice of pending does not violate 

HAVA, and found there is no evidence the State's procedures actually 

place underage applicants on the voter list. 

I conclude that the Complainant has not shown a violation 
of HA V A with respect to allowing counties to accept 
registrations form [sic] underage applicants, and then pend 
these for processing until the applicant will be 18 years old 
by the next election. There is no evidence that this 
procedure allows underage applicants to actually show up 
on the computerized database as registered voters. They 
should not appear on the database until after they have 
reached the required age. If, despite precautions put in 
place, some applicants slip through the cracks, there are 
processes to remove them from the database. 

Conclusion of Law 4.3, AR 0957. 

The ALl also concluded that HA V A requires only the duty of 

removal-rather than prevention-of ineligible registrants, and found that 

the Secretary is not failing to make reasonable efforts to remove ineligible 

registrants. 

Moreover, HA V A requires only that the Secretary of State 
make a reasonable effort to remove registrants who are 
ineligible to vote. It does not discuss steps to prevent 
erroneous registration of underage voters, other than the 
provisions of the Mail-In Registration Form, discussed 
below. There is no evidence that the Secretary of State is 
failing to make reasonable efforts to remove registrants 
who are ineligible to vote, or is failing in any duty with 
respect to list maintenance. 
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Conclusion of Law 4.4, AR 0957. 

Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo, and the agency's 

interpretation of HA V A should not be accorded great weight as HA V A is 

unambiguous when addressing the duty to maintain an accurate voter list. 

Postema, 142 Wn.2d at 77. The conclusion that HA VA does not require 

the prevention of erroneous registrations is not supported by the plain text 

of the statute, HA VA's legislative history, other cases, and other statutes. 

HA V A expressly requires the Secretary of State to maintain 

"accurate" voter registration records." 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(4). There is 

no authority for adding ineligible voters to this list. In fact, HA V A 

suggests the opposite.6 The duty to maintain accurate voter records 

certainly includes the duty to remove ineligible registrants, but this 

requirement is a non-exclusive obligation for maintaining an accurate 

voter database: 

Minimum standard for accuracy of State voter 
registration records 

The State election system shall include provisions to ensure 
that voter registration records in the State are accurate and 
are updated regularly, including the following: 

(A) A system of file maintenance that makes a 
reasonable effort to remove registrants who are 
ineligible to vote .... 

6 See 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(5)(A) (requiring verification-of applicant's identity); 42 
U.S.C. § 15483(b)(2)(A) (requiring identification to register by mail); 42 U.S.C. § 
15483(b)(4)(A)(iii) (advising ineligible applicants to not complete a registration form). 
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42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(4) (emphasis added). 

The ALJ apparently views this as a case of expressio un ius est 

exclusio alterius (''the expression of one thing is the exclusion of 

another") by only emphasizing the Secretary's responsibility to remove 

erroneous registrations. But HAVA's use of the word "including" suggests 

that the methods of file maintenance are not limited to the methods listed.7 

Moreover, the Supreme Court has repeatedly cautioned that the maxim of 

express mention and implicit exclusion is not to be used as "a means of 

defeating the apparent intent of the legislature." State v. Williams, 94 

Wn.2d 531,537,617 P.2d 1012 (1980). 

HA VA's legislative history also helps clarify the Secretary's duty 

to reject ineligible applications. The members of Congress identified 

"vastly inaccurate and bloated registration rolls" as a significant factor in 

cases of voter fraud and inaccurate election results. 147 Congo Rec. H9262 

(daily ed. Dec. 12, 2001). Voter rolls across the country, said Rep. 

Christopher Bond (R-MO), were in a "state of crisis." 148 Congo Rec. 

S 10490 (daily ed. Oct. 16, 2002). 

7 See West v. Gibson, 527 U.S. 212, 217, 119 S.Ct. 1906 (1999) (Congress' use of 
the word "including" made "clear that the authorization is not limited to the specified 
remedies there mentioned"); Federal Land Bank v. Bismarck Lumber Co., 314 U.S. 95, 
100, 62 S.Ct. 1 (1941) (''the term 'including' is not one of all-embracing defmition, but 
connotes simply an illustrative application of the general principle"); Adams v. Dole, 927 
F.2d 771, 776 (4th Cir. 1991) ("'including' is perhaps more often than not the 
introductory term for an incomplete list of examples"). 
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During the debates over HA V A, the members of Congress 

repeatedly emphasized their desire to prevent fraud and ensure accurate 

election results. Sen. Mitch McConnell (R-KY) said HA V A's new 

registration and database requirements are the "core of the new protections 

against fraudulent registration and fraudulent voting" and Congress' intent 

was ''to provide a centralized list of registered voters to help guard against 

fraud." 148 Congo Rec. S10492-93 (daily ed. Oct. 16, 2002). Not only 

would a statewide registration system clear false registrations from the 

voters rolls, said Sen. Bond, but it would help "verify the identity and 

eligibility of individuals and reduce fraudulent voter registrations from 

being added to our voter rolls." 148 Congo Rec. S10492 (emphasis added). 

In addition to HA VA's legislative history, a United States District 

Court has recognized the preventive mandate in HA VA. 

HA V A imposes several measures that decrease the danger 
of voter fraud, including (1) standardizing the voter rolls so 
that the eligibility of existing voters can be more easily 
verified, (2) eliminating duplicative registrations and 
removing individuals who become ineligible, and (3) 
preventing the registration of new ineligible or fictitious 
individuals by requiring that each voter's qualifications by 
[sic] verified before they are added to the rolls. 

Democratic Nat'l Comm. v. Republican Nat'l Comm., _ F.Supp.2d _, 

2009 WL 4268392,35 (D.N.J. 2009) (emphasis added). 
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The Washington Legislature also contemplates the rejection 

procedure in its instructions to state agencies that are designated to accept 

voter registrations: 

If the applicant chooses to register or transfer a registration, 
the service agent shall ask the following: 

(a) "Are you a United States citizen?" 

(b) "Are you or will you be eighteen years of age on or 
before the next election?" 

If the applicant answers in the affirmative to both 
questions, the agent shall then provide the applicant with a 
voter registration form and instructions and shall record 
that the applicant has requested to register to vote or 
transfer a voter registration. If the applicant answers in the 
negative to either question, the agent shall not provide the 
applicant with a voter registration form. 

RCW 29A.08.330(3) (emphasis added). 

The accuracy of the statewide voter registration database is of 

paramount importance under Washington's predominantly vote-by-mail 

system, because all active voters in vote-by-mail jurisdictions receive a 

ballot in the mail, making it easy for an improperly-registered voter to cast 

a ballot~ HA V A was intended to combat this danger by requiring states to 

ensure only eligible voters are in the database. 

Mr. Edelman's position is that the duty to maintain an accurate 

voter list includes rejecting ineligible applications. One of the best ways to 

ensure the accuracy of any database is to verify the accuracy of 
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infonnation when it is entered. Underage voters are a readily-identifiable 

category of ineligible voters, both when they register and when they are 

added to the database. The Secretary should prevent these registrations by 

instructing auditors to reject ineligible registrants, and by automatically 

preventing entry of underage applicants into the database. 

This is consistent with Congress' intent to prevent fraudulent 

registrations from being added to the voter list, 148 Congo Rec. S 1 0492, it 

is mandated by HA V A, which advises ineligible voter applicants "do not 

complete this fonn," 42 U.S.C. § IS483(b)(4)(A)(iii), and it is consistent 

with other cases and statutes. Ironically, HAVA's voter registration 

procedures were intended to correct the types of inaccuracies that the 

Secretary of State now allows. 

2. The Secretary's practice of accepting and pending 
underage voter registrations have resulted in a violation of 
HA V A by placing inaccurate information on the voter list 

The Secretary's practices have resulted in adding inaccurate 

infonnation into the voter database, and this constitutes a violation of the 

duty to maintain an accurate list under HA V A. 42 U.S.C. § 1 S483(a)( 4). 

The ALJ detennined that the process of accepting and pending 

underage registrations was not a violation of HA V A, and found: "There is 

no evidence that this procedure [of pending] allows underage applicants to 
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actually show up on the computerized database as registered voters." AR 

0957, Conclusion of Law 4.3. 

The ALJ made several other factual determinations to find that 

underage voters have not been added to the voter database. 

When the applicant is put in active status, the registration 
date that shows on the VRDB is the date the voter 
registration is mailed or received. Accordingly, after the 
voter is of age, it might appear from a review of the 
database that the voter was registered too early. 

AR 0953, Finding of Fact 3.7. 

Furthermore, "[t]he fact that the database does not accurately 

reflect the date of registration, but instead the receipt date of the 

application, does not mean that the registration is actually happening 

prematurely." AR 0953, Finding of Fact 3.11. 

In other words, the ALJ found that underage voters are not being 

entered into the database-it only appears this way because counties hold 

the registration form until the voter is eligible, and the registration date in 

the database is the date the county received the application from the 

underage voter. 

These findings of fact are not supported by substantial evidence 

when viewed in light of the entire record. RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). If these 

findings were accurate, underage voter registrations would be a mere 

clerical anomaly. Yet Mr. Edelman supplied evidence that underage voters 
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are listed as "active" in the database, and that 17-year-olds are receiving 

and casting ballots. 

Specifically, Exhibit 3 (AR 0927-30) is a list of 127 votes cast by 

underage voters between January 2000 and February 2008.8 The Secretary 

has no explanation for how these individuals were able to cast ballots. 

Next, Exhibit 9 is a list of 49 underage individuals who were listed as 

"active" in the voter database in the months of May, June, and July of 

2008-several months after Mr. Edelman had alerted the Election 

Division of this problem. AR 0949-50. The Secretary had no explanation 

for why 18 of the 49 underage registrations were still listed as active after 

Mr. Edelman filed his complaint. AR 0435. Underage registration and 

voting continued after Washington State created its statewide voter 

registration database. Since 2006, when the statewide voter list was 

created, some 3,700 underage individuals have been registered. AR 0515. 

As the ALJ found, 13 individuals voted in 2006 elections before they 

turned 18, and four underage individuals voted in 2008. AR 0953, Finding 

of Fact 3.9. 

The Secretary argues-without supporting data-that instances of 

underage registrants should be discounted because "nearly all instances of 

8 HA VA's voter registration list requirements became effective in Washington State 
on January 1, 2006. CP 71. While Mr. Edelman's complaint focused on violations that 
would occur during the 2008 primary and general elections, he submitted evidence from 
earlier years to demonstrate the long-standing nature ofthe violations complained of. 
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underage voters apparently being placed on the active voter database are 

illusory." CP 73. The Secretary cites RCW 29A.OS.ll0 as requiring 

county auditors to enter, as the registration date, the date an applicant 

submits or mails the application, which appears as an underage 

registration. ld. The Secretary's explanation is unpersuasive for several 

reasons. 

First, nothing in HA V A or state law permits auditors to hold 

completed voter applications from ineligible individuals, and the Secretary 

has cited no such authority. Both, however, contemplate the rejection of 

ineligible voters, as discussed above. See 42 U.S.c. § 154S3(b)(4)(A)(iii), 

RCW 29A.OS.330(3), and RCW 46.20.155(1). 

Second, RCW 29A.OS.IlO in designed to give auditors a procedure 

to follow when processing applications, but it does not permit election 

officials to pre-date registration applications from ineligible applicants. 

The statute states that if an application form is not complete, the auditor is 

to mail a deficiency notice to the applicant, but if the applicant fails to 

respond, the name "shall not be placed on the official list of registered 

voters until the application is complete." RCW 29A.OS.ll0(2). If an 

application is eventually completed, the date of mailing or the date of 

delivery is used as the registration date. ld This statute does not permit 
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auditors to hold applications from ineligible applicants in a "no man's 

land" until the person becomes eligible. 

Finally, assuming arguendo that underage registrations are 

"illusory," the Secretary has no explanation for how these illusory voter 

registrations have resulted in underage individuals receiving ballots and 

casting votes. The Secretary has offered no evidence to support his claim 

that underage registrations are a clerical illusion (e.g., evidence that 

underage applicants were activated after turning 18). 

The administrative findings of fact regarding underage 

registrations are not supported by the record. Instead, Mr. Edelman has 

offered substantial evidence that, whatever the Secretary's procedures may 

be, underage individuals are being placed as "active" in the voter database. 

These individuals are receiving ballots, and in some cases these underage 

individuals are casting ballots illegally. Using the Heinmiller test, a "fair­

minded person" would conclude that a substantial number of underage 

voters have been and are being entered into the registration database, and 

that the Secretary has allowed this to occur. 127 Wn.2d at 607. 

The Secretary has failed to safeguard against underage 

registrations, allowing thousands of inaccurate entries into the voter 

registration database, which is a violation of the Secretary's duties under 

the Help America Vote Act. 
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3. The Secretary's efforts of list maintenance are insufficient 
to satisfy the requirement to maintain an accurate voter list 

The ALJ determined as a matter of law that the Secretary has 

satisfied the obligations under HA V A and state law to ensure database 

accuracy. "There is no evidence that the Secretary of State is failing to 

make reasonable efforts to remove registrants who are ineligible to vote, 
" -

or is failing in any duty with respect to list maintenance." AR 0957, 

Conclusion of Law 4.4. The ALJ determined the Secretary "is actively 

working with the counties to prevent any reoccurrence" of voting by 17-

year-olds. AR 0953, Finding of Fact 3.9. Additionally, the Reviewing 

Officer determined that several exhibits provided by Mr. Edelman did not 

contradict assertions the Secretary had made regarding his actions to 

address underage registrations arid voting. AR 1098-1100, Findings of 

Fact 25(b)-(d). 

As previously mentioned, the Secretary has an obligation to ensure 

that voter registration records are "accurate and are updated regularly," 42 

u.S.C. § 15483(a)(4), and to make a "reasonable effort" to remove 

ineligible registrants. 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(4)(A). The duty to comply 

with HA V A is reiterated in state law. RCW 29A.08.125(9)(a). The 

conclusion that the Secretary is satisfying his obligation to prevent, 
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discover, and correct errors is not supported by substantial evidence when 

viewed in light of the entire record. 

a. Underage registration and voting occurred even 
after Mr. Edelman alerted elections officials 

The evidence provided by Mr. Edelman demonstrates that the 

Secretary's efforts to identify and remove underage voters are not part of a 

reasonable system of file maintenance, but are merely a reaction to 

problems uncovered by Mr. Edelman. 

This can be seen in the sequence of events laid out in Exhibits 2-5. 

AR 0923-39. Mr. Edelman discovered the existence of underage voters 

and communicated it to Mr. Paul Miller, the Secretary's Technical 

Services Manager. At no point in their co~unication does Mr. Miller 

indicate that the Secretary had any procedures to scan the database for 

underage voters. He says that with the voter database he is "now able to 

track and warn counties about underage voting registrations," but never 

confirms this actually occurs. AR 0934. Mr. Edelman notified the 

Secretary of the problem of underage registrations on December 17,2007, 

and continued to follow up on the problem for the next month. AR 0932. 

Despite these warnings, the Secretary admits at least four underage votes 

were cast in the February 2008 presidential primary. AR 0930. 
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Additionally, Exhibit 9 shows a steady stream of underage 

registrations added to the database through July 2008. AR 0949-50. 

Nineteen of the 49 underage voters identified in the exhibit were active 

voters on the database for the entire three-month period. The Secretary 

professed to have dealt with these underage voters identified by Mr. 

Edelman (AR 0435), but the fact remains that these errors were flagged by 

Mr. Edelman, rather than by any effort the Secretary had in place to 

identify and correct ineligible registrants. 

Prior to the filing of this action, the Secretary assured Mr. Edelman 

that the statewide voter registration database had "significantly improved" 

the State's ability to prevent underage registrations. AR 0004. Yet Exhibit 

8 shows that the rate of underage voter registrations has not decreased-

but continues to rise in non-presidential elections year-since the creation 

of the statewide voter database.9 AR 0947. Merely relying on the voter 

registration database as a safeguard is not a "reasonable" effort on the part 

of the Secretary. There is no evidence that any of the underage voters 

would have been discovered by the Secretary if Mr. Edelman had not 

brought the matter to his attention. 

9 Underage registrations in non-presidential election years before and after adoption 
of the database: 1,024 in 2001; 1,281 in 2002; 1,529 in 2003; 785 in 2005; 1,566 in 2006; 
and 1,548 in 2007. AR 0947. 
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b. The Secretary of State fails to adequately follow up 
with county auditors when errors in the database 
are discovered 

The Secretary's efforts to identify and remove ineligible voters can 

further be characterized as unreasonable upon closer examination of the 

Secretary's process. Although HAVA places the primary duty for list 

maintenance on the chief election officer, 42 U.S.C. § lS483(a)(1)(A), the 

Secretary is not removing underage registrants. When an underage 

registrant appears, the Secretary merely "refers the matter to the county 

auditor for appropriate action." AR 0432. The evidence submitted by Mr. 

Edelman shows the inadequate response by election officials. AR 1068-

69. Four votes were cast by underage individuals in the February 2008 

presidential primary. Upon notification from the Secretary of State, three 

of the four counties (Whitman, Thurston, and King) took no new 

corrective action to prevent ineligible votes, but indicated their intention to 

rely on existing procedures. 

c. Contrary to his assertions, the Secretary of State 
had no procedure in place to identify underage 
voters 

As stated above, HA V A requires a "reasonable" system of file 

maintenance and provisions to ensure the accuracy of voter records. The 

Secretary has asserted throughout this adjudicative process that his efforts 

28 



have been reasonable, and that he "continues to work . . . to develop 

solutions to prevent these problems .... " AR 0436. 

Yet the Secretary was unable to produce any such written 

procedure. Mr. Edelman filed a formal public records request (AR 1057) 

seeking: 

1. All formal, documented procedures established by 
the Office of the Secretary of State (OSOS) for the 
processing of voter registration applications 
received from applicants who will not attain the age 
of 18 by the next election (underage applicants). 

2. All documented direction to county auditors from 
the OSOS for processing applications from 
underage applicants. 

3. All internal documented procedures established by 
the OSOS for disposition of registrations from 
underage applicants if and when such registration 
information is entered into the Voter Registration 
Database (VRDB) .... 

On September 3, 2008-after the Initial Decision issued-the 

Secretary of State's public disclosure officer responded: "We do not have 

any records for your items 1, 2, and 3 below." AR 1056.10 The lack of a 

procedure for handling or discovering underage registrations demonstrates 

that the Secretary's efforts to correct this particular inaccuracy are not part 

of a regular, on-going system of file maintenance. 

Furthermore, evidence submitted by Mr. Edelman demonstrates 

that the Secretary of State's practices for preventing underage vote are 

10 The public record request and the Secretary's response were among the evidence 
subsequently entered into the record by the Reviewing Officer. AR 1097. 
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anything but reasonable. AR 1058-61. On February 19, 2008-the day of 

Washington State's presidential primary-Voter Services Manager David 

Motz sent an email to county auditors in which he included a list of 115 

active voters who were not yet 18, and were thus ineligible to vote in the 

primary. This notice, unfortunately, was too little, too late. In reply to a 

phone conversation with Stevens County Auditor Beverly Lamm, Mr. 

Motz acknowledged: "My mistake was that I sent the email too late. In 

order to be completely effective, I should have sent it before your ballots 

went to print." AR 1058. 

Indeed, Mr. Motz' list contained the names of the four underage 

individuals who successfully cast ballots in the February 2008 presidential 

primary (AR 0930)-a strong indication that the Secretary's practices are 

woefully inadequate. Notifying county auditors of ineligible voters on the 

day of an election-after ballots had been mailed to voters-when 

auditors are presumably busy with administering the day's election, is 

hardly a "reasonable" process. 

* * * 
Given the weight of this evidence, the Secretary of State's efforts 

to maintain the voter database have not been reasonable. The Secretary's 

inadequate efforts have not satisfied his obligations under HA V A to 

maintain an accurate database. Any conclusions of law or findings of fact 
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to suggest otherwise are not supported by a clear reading of HA V A and in 

light of the substantial evidence Mr. Edelman has submitted. 

c. The Secretary of State's Practice of Pending Underage 
Registrations Violates HA V A's Requirement that Election 
Officials Process Voter Registrations Expeditiously 

The practice of pending underage voters presents a separate 

violation of the Help America Vote Act. HA V A states, in pertinent part: 

"All voter registration information obtained by any local election official 

in the State shall be electronically entered into the computerized list on an 

expedited basis at the time the information is provided to the local 

official." 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(1)(A)(vi) (emphasis added). The mandate 

for expedited entry helps reduce confusion and inaccuracy in the 

registration process. 

The ALJ concluded that HA V A's mandate to expedite registrations 

is not violated by the procedure of pending underage registrations. 

I reject the Complainant's argument, because HAVA only 
requires registration of applicants who are eligible and who 
submit complete applications. Indeed, it clearly does not 
require processing of incomplete forms, but instead 
requires that the applicant be given the opportunity to 
complete the form in a timely manner. 42 U.S.C. § 
15483(b)(4)(B). It would be an absurd reading of the statute 
to require an expedited processing of an application from 
an ineligible applicant, where the application on its face 
shows that the applicant will become eligible through the 
mere passage of time. 

Conclusion of Law 4.6, AR 0957. 
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This interpretation should not be afforded great weight as the 

statute is unambiguous as to an election official's responsibility when a 

voter registration is received. 

Neither federal or state law permit the county auditors to set 

completed registration applications aside for eventual entry. The 

Secretary's interpretation of 42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(I)(A)(vi) ignores the 

mandate that registration information be added into the database "on an 

expedited basis." There is nothing in that section or any other part of 

HA V A that allows the current practice of holding completed applications 

from underage voters for months before entering them into the database. 

The ALl said it was "absurd" to conclude that HA V A requires 

election officials to add ineligible underage voters to the database. AR 

0957. This mischaracterizes Mr. Edelman's position. HA VA requires all 

registrations to be expeditiously processed at the time an official receives 

them, and if a registration is submitted by an ineligible applicant, that 

registration should be rejected. State law grants officials the authority to 

delay processing only if an application is incomplete, which should be 

distinguished from an ineligible applicant. RCW 29A.08.110. Moreover, 

similar to HA VA, state law mandates the rejection of registration forms 

from ineligible applicants. See RCW 29A.08.330(3) and RCW 

46.20.155(1). 
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Any delay between submission of the registration application and 

entry into the system increases the likelihood that the information may 

become inaccurate. During the delay a voter may move, commit a felony, 

change his or her name, or any number of things that will affect eligibility 

and decrease the accuracy of the database. For example, Rachel Jones cast 

a vote on February 7, 2006-a full 17 months before her 18th birthday on 

July 24, 2007. AR 0930. The Secretary, by permitting auditors to pend 

registrations, increases the likelihood of an inaccurate voter list. 

Both HA V A and state law provide a bright line to reduce 

confusion and inaccuracy in the registration process. That bright line is at 

the time of registration, when election officials must quickly process 

registrations from legal applicants and reject those from ineligible 

applicants. The agency decisions below erred in concluding that HA V A is 

not violated by allowing auditors to delay the entry of registrations from 

underage voters. 

The Secretary defends the State's practice by emphasizing the 

public policy of encouraging all eligible voters to participate fully in 

elections. "[N]ot only should the rolls of registered voters not include 

ineligible individuals, but they should include eligible voters who submit 

completed and timely applications for registration." AR 1101. The 
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Secretary expressed concern that rejecting underage registrations would 

drive young people from the electoral process. AR 0436. This is purely 

speculative, and the Secretary presented no evidence that a 16- or 17-year­

old would be incapable or unwilling to register when eligible. The 

Secretary argues that rejection of underage applications is problematic 

because not all 17-year-olds will know when the next election will occur. 

CP 80. This is precisely why election officials should take an active role in 

advising 17-year-olds as to when they will become eligible. 

Any number of practices would satisfy HA V A while 

accommodating the Secretary's emphasis on civic involvement. The 

Secretary could instruct auditors to maintain a list of individuals who were 

rejected as being too young, and auditors could mail a registration 

application to these individuals upon reaching the age of eligibility. 

Alternatively, auditors could give underage applicants a registration form 

with a date notation advising the applicant when it is appropriate to mail in 

the completed form. 

The Secretary's interest in encouraging young people to participate 

in elections is commendable, and is shared by the Appellant, but the 

Secretary's practices could actually have a deleterious effect on new 

applicants. Rather than advising applicants to register when eligible, the 

Secretary allows an ineligible person to register, exposes that person to the 
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possibility of committing voter fraud, and may eventually remove the 

young voter from the voter list. Which process is more likely to cause 

confusion and dishearten young people? 

D. Washington State's Voter Registration Form Omits a 
Statement Required by HA V A 

The Secretary also erred by determining there is no legal mandate 

to include a specific statement from HAVA on the state's voter 

registration form. 42 U.S.C. § 15483(b)(4)(A) states in relevant part: 

The mail voter registration form . . . shall include the 
following: 

(i) The question "Are you a citizen of the United States 
of America?" and boxes for the applicant to check to 
indicate whether the applicant is or is not a citizen of 
the United States. 

(ii) The question "Will you be 18 years of age on or 
before election day?" and boxes for the applicant to 
check to indicate whether or not the applicant will be 18 
years of age or older on election day. 

(iii) The statement "If you checked 'no' in response to 
either of these questions, do not complete this form." ... 

The voter registration form in use by the State at the time of the 

complaint, however, does not include required statement (iii) above. AR 

0945. The ALJ determined the statement is not required on the state voter 

registration form. AR 0958, Conclusion of Law 4.8. The Reviewing 

Officer admitted, however, as a matter of policy there was merit to 

including the statement and directed the elections staff to make a 
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recommendation. AR 1102, ~ 33. Regardless of any policy concessions, 

Mr. Edelman appeals the determination that the statement is not legally 

mandated. 

The Secretary relies on voluntary guidance from the U.S. Election 

Assistance Commission (EAC) to support his position. AR 0456. The 

EAC guidance states, "HA V A requires that the federal mail-in registration 

form include check-off boxes for citizenship and being 18 years of age by 

Election Day" (emphasis added). Id. Later the guidance document adds, 

"HA V A does not require states to redesign their state voter registration 

forms to include check-off boxes" (emphasis added). Id. The ALJ 

concluded that if the check-off boxes are not required, then the "do not 

complete" statement is unnecessary. AR 0958. 

The EAC guidance can be disregarded for several reasons. First, 

the clear language of HA V A says voter registration cards should include 

the "do not complete" statement. Second, the EAC guidance dealt with an 

entirely different subject-what to do when a voter left a checkbox blank. 

Nothing in the EAC guidance suggests that states can leave the "do not 

complete" statement off forms prepared in compliance with federal 

requirements. Third, the EAC guidance merely suggests that states need 

not alter their own registrations forms. But the ALJ failed to note the 

significance of the distinction between state and federal forms: 42 U.S.C. 
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§ 15483(b)(4)(A) concerns registration fonns developed to comply with 

the National Voter Registration Act. Some states may have separate state 

voter registration fonns which do not fall under this federal mandate. 

Washington uses only one fonn, and state law requires that it be in 

compliance with the NVRA. RCW 29A.08.220(1). 

By failing to add the "do not complete" statement to Washington's 

voter registration fonn the Secretary violates HA V A and weakens the 

security and accuracy protections provided by the fonn. 

E. The Appellant is Substantially Prejudiced by the 
Administrative Order 

This Court may grant relief "only if it detennines that a person 

seeking judicial relief has been substantially prejudiced by the action 

complained of." RCW 34.05.570(1)(d). As a registered Washington voter, 

Mr. Edelman is substantially prejudiced by the Secretary's failure to 

prevent ineligible underage voters from registering and voting. Mr. 

Edelman has cast ballots in previous state and federal elections, and will 

continue to vote in subsequent elections. 11 

The U.S. Supreme Court recently held, "the right of suffrage can 

be denied by a debasement or dilution of the weight of a citizen's vote just 

as effectively as by wholly prohibiting the free exercise of the franchise." 

11 The Secretary did not dispute that Mr. Edelman is substantially prejudiced in this 
case. CP 68. 
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Purcell v. Gonzalez, 549 U.S. 1,4, 127 S.Ct. 5 (2006) (citations omitted). 

The Supreme Court has explicitly affirmed that states have important 

interests in preventing voter fraud and enhancing the public's confidence 

in the electoral process. Crawford v. Marion County Election Board, 553 

U.S. 181, 128 S.Ct. 1610 (2008). 

Every voter's interest in participating in accurate elections should 

be contemplated by the Secretary when operating the state voter 

registration system. The system was intended to increase the accuracy of 

elections, thus decreasing disenfranchisement of voters and dilution of 

votes. A judgment in his favor would substantially eliminate the prejudice 

to Mr. Edelman by reducing inaccurate registrations, thus protecting his 

vote from dilution and increasing his confidence in the accuracy of the 

electoral process. 

Furthermore, the harm that can come from the Secretary's lax 

practices is substantial, especially when weighed against the remedies Mr. 

Edelman advocates. The harm allowed by the Secretary is found not only , 

from illegal votes, but in the systemic inaccuracies in the voter registration 

database. Any inaccuracies that are known and encouraged increase the 

likelihood of inaccurate election results. The Secretary well knows that the 

outcome of an election can be influenced by just a few votes. HA V A was 
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intended to clean up bloated voter rolls; the Secretary's practices result in 

new bloating. 

F. The Appellant is Entitled to Attorney Fees 

Under RAP 18.1, a prevailing party may be awarded attorney fees 

when allowed by applicable law. Mr. Edelman challenged an agency 

action and is therefore entitled to attorney fees under the Equal Access to 

Justice Act, RCW 4.84.340 - .360, which authorizes awards of reasonable 

attorney fees and other expenses for qualified parties who prevail in a 

judicial review of agency action when an agency's action is not 

substantially justified. RCW 4.84.350(1). 

"Agency action" means licensing, the implementation or 

enforcement of a statute, the adoption or application of an agency rule or 

order, the imposition of sanctions, or the granting or withholding of 

benefits. RCW 4.84.340(2); RCW 34.05.010(3). The Secretary of State's 

Final Determination qualifies as an agency order. 

A "qualified party" is "an individual whose net worth did not 

exceed one million dollars at the time the initial petition for judicial 

review was filed .... " RCW 4.84.340(5). Mr. Edelman is a qualified party 

under this definition. 

The Secretary of State's actions were not substantially justified. 

The violations of HA V A resulted in thousands of improper voter 
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registrations, not to mention numerous illegal votes by underage 

individuals. Even after Mr. Edelman brought these issues to the attention 

of Elections Division staff, the Secretary failed to take adequate measures 

to prevent future instances of underage registration. Furthermore, the 

Secretary's Reviewing Officer admitted in several instances that Mr. 

Edelman's requested remedies were advisable from a policy perspective, 

though the Reviewing Officer did not concede a legal obligation to 

implement such procedures. AR 1102. 

Therefore, Mr. Edelman should be entitled to attorney fees and 

expenses in this action. 

v. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should reverse the superior 

court's order and remand for the setting aside of the Secretary's order. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 1st day of February, 2010. 

EVERGREEN FREEDOM FOUNDATION 

~r-4 
Michael J. Reitz, WSBA No. 36195 
Jonathan D. Bechtle, WSBA No. 39074 
Attorneys for Appellant 
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Appendix 



Westiaw. 
42 V.S.C.A. § 15483 

Effective: October 29, 2002 

United States Code Annotated Currentness 
Title 42. The Public Health and Welfare 

Chapter 146. Election Administration Improvement 

Page 1 

~ Subchapter III. Uniform and Nondiscriminatory Election Technology and Administration 
Requirements 
~ Part A. Requirements 

... § 15483. Computerized statewide voter registration list requirements and re­
quirements for voters who register by mail 

(a) Computerized statewide voter registration list requirements 

(1) Implementation 

(A) In general 

Except as provided in subparagraph (B), each State, acting through the chief State election 
official, shall implement, in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner, a single, uniform, 
official, centralized, interactive computerized statewide voter registration list defined, main­
tained, and administered at the State level that contains the name and registration information 
of every legally registered voter in the State and assigns a unique identifier to each legally 
registered voter in the State (in this subsection referred to as the "computerized list"), and in­
cludes the following: 

(i).The computerized list shall serve as the single system for storing and managing the offi­
ciallist of registered voters throughout the State. 

(li) The computerized list contains the name and registration information of every legally 
registered voter in the State. 

(iii) Under the computerized list, a unique identifier is assigned to each legally registered 
voter in the State. 

(iv) The computerized list shall be coordinated with other agency databases within the State. 

(v) Any election official in the State, including any local election official, may obtain im­
mediate electronic access to the information contained in the computerized list. 
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(vi) All voter registration infonnation obtained by any local election official in the State shall 
be electronically entered into the computerized list on an expedited basis at the time the in­
fonnation is provided to the local official. 

(vii) The chief State election official shall provide such support as may be required so that 
local election officials are able to enter infonnation as described in clause (vi). 

(viii) The computerized list shall serve as the official voter registration list for the conduct of 
all elections for Federal office in the State. 

(B) Exception 

The requirement under subparagraph (A) shall not apply to a State in which, under a State law 
in effect continuously on and after October 29, 2002, there is no voter registration requirement 
for individuals in the State with respect to elections for Federal office. 

(2) Computerized list maintenance 

(A) In general 

The appropriate State or local election official shall perfonn list maintenance with respect to 
the computerized list on a regular basis as follows: 

(i) If an individual is to be removed from the computerized list, such individual shall be 
removed in accordance with the provisions of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 
(42 U.S.C. 1973gg et seq.), including subsections (a)(4), (c)(2), (d), and (e) of section 8 of 
such Act (42 U.S.C. 1973gg-6). 

(ii) For purposes of removing names of ineligible voters from the official list of eligible 
voters--

(I) under section 8(a)(3)(B) of such Act (42 U.S.C. 1973gg-6(a)(3)(B)), the State shall 
coordinate the computerized list with State agency records on felony status; and 

(II) by reason of the death of the registrant under section 8(a)(4)(A) of such Act (42 U.S.C. 
1973 gg-6(a)( 4 )(A)), the State shall coordinate the computerized list with State agency 
records on death. 

(iii) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this subparagraph, if a State is described in 
section 4(b) of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (42 U.S.C. 1973gg-2(P)), that 
State shall remove the names of ineligible voters from the computerized list in accordance 
with State law. 
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(B) Conduct 

The list maintenance perfonned under subparagraph (A) shall be conducted in a manner that 
ensures that--

(i) the name of each registered voter appears in the computerized list; 

(ii) only voters who are not registered or who are not eligible to vote are removed from the 
computerized list; and 

(iii) duplicate names are eliminated from the computerized list. 

(3) Technological security of computerized list 

The appropriate State or local official shall provide adequate technological security measures to 
prevent the unauthorized access to the computerized list established under this section. 

(4) Minimum standard for accuracy of State voter registration records 

The State election system shall include provisions to ensure that voter registration records in the 
State are accurate and are updated regularly, including the following: 

(A) A system of file maintenance that makes a reasonable effort to remove registrants who are 
ineligible to vote from the official list of eligible voters. Under such system, consistent with the 
National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (42 U.S.C. 1973gg et seq.), registrants who have not 
responded to a notice and who have not voted in 2 consecutive general elections for Federal 
office shall be removed from the official list of eligible voters, except that no registrant may be 
removed solely by reason of a failure to vote. 

(B) Safeguards to ensure that eligible voters are not removed iIi error from the official list of 
eligible voters. 

(5) Verification of voter registration infonnation 

(A) Requiring provision of certain infonnation by applicants 

(i) In general 

Except as provided in clause (ii), notwithstanding any other provision of law, an application 
for voter registration for an election for Federal office may not be accepted or processed by a 
State unless the application includes--
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(I) in the case of an applicant who has been issued a current and valid driver's license, the 
applicant's driver's license number; or 

(II) in the case of any other applicant (other than an applicant to whom clause (ii) applies), 
the last 4 digits of the applicant's social security number. 

(ii) Special rule for applicants without driver's license or social security number 

If an applicant for voter registration for an election for Federal office has not been issued a 
current and valid driver's license or a social security number, the State shall assign the ap­
plicant a number which will serve to identify the applicant for voter registration purposes. To 
the extent that the State has a computerized list in effect under this subsection and the list 
assigns unique identifying numbers to registrants, the number assigned under this clause 
shall be the unique identifying number assigned under the list. 

(iii) Determination of validity of numbers provided 

The State shall determine whether the information provided by an individual is sufficient to 
meet the requirements of this subparagraph, in accordance with State law. 

(B) Requirements for State officials 

(i) Sharing information in databases 

The chief State election official and the official responsible for the State motor vehicle au­
thority of a State shall enter into an agreement to match information in the database of the 
statewide voter registration system with information in the database of the motor vehicle 
authority to the extent required to ~nable each such official to verify the accuracy of the 
information provided on applications for voter registration. 

(ii) Agreements with Commissioner of Social Security 

The official responsible for the State motor vehicle authority shall enter into an agreement 
with the Commissioner of Social Security under section 405(r)(8) of this title (as added by 
subparagraph (C)).-

(C) Omitted 

(D) Special rule for certain States 

In the case of a State which is permitted to use social security numbers, and provides for the 
use of social security numbers, on applications for voter registration, in accordance with sec­
tion 7 of the Privacy Act ofl974 (5 U.S.C. 552anote), the provisions bfthis paragraph shall be 
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optional. 

(b) Requirements for voters who register by mail 

(1) In general . 

Notwithstanding section 6(c) of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (42 US.C. 
1973gg-4(c)) and subject to paragraph (3), a State shall, in a uniform and nondiscriminatory 
manner, require an individual to meet the requirements of paragraph (2) if--

(A) the individual registered to vote in a jurisdiction by mail; and 

(B) (i) the individual has not previously voted in an election for Federal office in the State; or 

(ii) the individual has not previously voted in such an election in the jurisdiction and the ju­
risdiction is located in a State that does not have a computerized list that complies with the 
requirements of subsection (a) of this section. 

(2) Requirements 

(A) In general 

An individual meets the requirements of this paragraph if the individual--

(i) in the case of an individual who votes in person--

(I) presents to the appropriate State or local election official a current and valid photo 
identification; or 

(II) presents to the appropriate State or local election official a copy of a current utility bill, 
bank statement, government check, paycheck, or other government document that shows 
the name and address of the voter; or 

(ii) in the case of an individual who votes by mail, submits with the ballot--

(I) a copy of a current and valid photo identification; or 

(II) a copy of a current utility bill, bank statement, government check, paycheck, or other 
government document that shows the name and address of the voter. 

(B) Fail-safe voting 

(i) In person 
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An individual who desires to vote in person, but who does not meet the requirements of 
subparagraph (A)(i), may cast a provisional ballot under section I 5482(a) of this title. 

(ii) By mail 

An individual who desires to vote by mail but who does not meet the requirements of sub­
paragraph (A)(ii) may cast such a ballot by mail and the ballot shall be counted as a provi­
sional ballot in accordance with section 15482(a) of this title. 

(3) Inapplicability 

Paragraph (1) shall not apply in the case of a person--

(A) who registers to vote by mail under section 6 of the National Voter Registration Act of 
1993 (42 U.S.C. 1973gg-4) and submits as part of such registration either--

(i) a copy of a current and valid photo identification; or 

(il) a ,copy of a current utility bill, bank statement, government check, paycheck, or gov­
ernment document that shows the name and address of the voter; 

(B)(i) who registers to vote by mail under section'6 of the National Voter Registration Act of 
1993 (42 U.S.C. 1973gg-4) and submits with such registration either--

(I) a driver's license number; or 

(II) at least the last 4 digits of the individual's social security number; and 

(ii) with respect to whom a State or local election official matches the information submitted 
under clause (i) with an existing State identification record bearing the same number, name and 
date of birth as provided in such registration; or 

(C) who is--

(i) entitled to vote by absentee ballot under the Uniformed and Overseas Citizens Absentee 
Voting Act (42 U.S.C. 1973ff-l et seq.); 

(ii) provided the right to vote otherwise than in person under section 1973ee-l (b)(2)(B)(ii) of 
this title; or 

(iii) entitled to vote otherwise than in person under any other Federal law. 
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(4) Contents of mail-in registration form 

(A) In general 

The mail voter registration form developed under section 6 of the National Voter Registration 
Act of 1993 (42 U.S.C. 1973gg-4) shall include the following: 

(i) The question "Are you a citizen of the United States of America?" and boxes for the ap­
plicant to check to indicate whether the applicant is or is not a citizen of the United States. 

(ii) The question "Will you be 18 years of age on or before election day?" and boxes for the 
applicant to check to indicate whether or not the applicant will be 18 years of age or older on 
election day. 

(iii) The statement "If you checked 'no' in response to either of these questions, do not 
complete this form." 

(iv) A statement informing the individual that if the form is submitted by mail and the indi­
vidual is registering for the fIrst time, the appropriate information required under this section 
must be submitted with the mail-in registration form in order to avoid the additional identi­
fIcation requirements upon voting for the fIrst time. 

(B) Incomplete forms 

If an applicant for voter registration fails to answer the question included on the mail voter 
registration form pursuant to subparagraph (A) (i), the registrar shall notify the applicant of the 
failure and provide the applicant with an opportunity to complete the form in a timely manner 
to allow for the completion of the registration form prior to the next election for Federal office 
(subject to State law). 

(5) Construction 

Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to require a State that was not required to comply 
with a provision of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (42 U.S.C. 1973gg et seq.) be­
fore October 29,2002 to comply with such a provision after such date. 

(c) Permitted use of last 4 digits of social security numbers 

The last 4 digits of a social security number described in subsections (a)(5)(A)(i)(II) and 
(b )(3)(B)(i)(I1) of this section shall not be considered to be a social security number for purposes of 
section 7 of the Privacy Act of 1974 (5 U.S.C. 552a note). 

(d) Effective date 
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(1) Computerized Statewide voter registration list requirements . 

(A) In general 

Except as provided in subparagraph (B), each State and jurisdiction shall be required to comply 
with the requirements of subsection (a) of this section on and after January 1,2004. 

(B) Waiver 

If a State or jurisdiction certifies to the Commission not later than January 1, 2004, that the 
State or jurisdiction will not meet the deadline described in subparagraph (A) for good cause 
and includes 'in the certification the reasons for the failure to meet such deadline, subparagraph 
(A) shall apply to the State or jurisdiction as if the reference in such subparagraph to "January 
1,2004" were a reference to "January 1,2006". 

(2) Requirement for voters who register by mail 

(A) In general 

Each State and jurisdiction shall be required to comply with the requirements of subsection (b) 
of this section on and after Januaiy 1, 2004, and shall be prepared to receive registration ma­
terials submitted by individuals described in subparagraph (B) on and after the date described 
in such subparagraph. 

(B) Applicability with respect to individuals 

The provisions of subsection (b) of this section shall apply to any individual who registers to 
vote on or after January 1,2003. 

CREDIT(S) 

(Pub.L. 107-252. Title III. § 303, Oct. 29, 2002, 116 Stat. 1708.) 
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BEFORE THE WASHINGTON STATE OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 
FOR THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

In Re: Docket No. 2008-S0S-0001 

ROBERT EDELMAN .. INITIAL DECISION 

Complainant 

v . 

. SECRETARY OF STATE, 

Respondent 

1 BRIEF AOJUDICATIVE PROCEEDING 

1.1 Date: August 15, 2008 

1.2 Administrative Law Judge: Rebekah R. Ross 

1.3 Agency: Office of the Secretary of State 

1.4. Also present: Shane Hamlin, Assistant Director Elections; Paul Miller, Technical 
Services Manager; David Mott, Voter Services Manager 

1.5 . Agency Representative: Spencer Daniels, Assistant Attorney General 

1.6 Complainant1: Robert Edelman, through counsel 

1.7 Complainant Representative: Jonathan Bechtle, attorney at law 

2 SUMMARY OF- ORDER 

2.1 The Complaint is DISMISSED. 

3 RELEVANT FACTS 

3.1 On June 13, 2008, the Complainant filed a Complaint based on the Help America 

11n some Office of Administrative Hearings docu·ments, the Complainant is referenced as 
the Appellant. The more accurate designation is Complainant. 
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3.2 

Vote Act (HAVA). It is undisputed that the Complainant is a registered voter with 
standing to bring a complaint under HAVA. 

The Complaint alleges that the Secretary of State is allowing counties to register 
underage persons, resulting in underage voters; that the Secretary of State is 
allowing county auditors to delay applications from underage voters; and that 
Washington's Mail-in Voter Registration form violates HAVA. The facts relevant to 
each of those allegations is addressed in turn. 

A. . Facts Relating to whether the Secretary of State is allowing counties to 
register underage persons. resulting in underage voters. 

3.3 The Mail-In Voter Registration Form developed by the Secretary of State asks for 
the following information at the top of the form: 

Will you be at least 18 years of age or older before Election Day? 
o YES 0 NO 
Are you a citizen of the United States? 0 YES 0 NO 

The form requires completion of the applicant's date of birth and verification. The 
Voter Declaration at the bottom of the form states: 

By signing this document, I hereby assert, under penalty of perjury, that I am 
legally eligible to vote. If I am found to have voted illegally, I may 
be prosecuted and/or fined for this illegal act. In addition, I hereby 
acknowledge that my name and last known address will be forwarded to the 
appropriate state and/or federal authorities if I am found to have voted 
illegally. CRCW 29A.08.210) 

• I declare that the facts on this registration form are true; 
• I am a citizen of the United States; 
• I am not presently denied my civil rights as a result of being convicted of a 
felony; 
• I will have lived in Washington state at this address for tt"!irty days 
immediately before the next election at which I vote; 
• I will be at least eighteen years old when I vote. 

Exhibit 7. 

'3.4 Washington State has established a centralized voter registration list ("State 
VRDB") maintained by the Secretary of State. However, the initial processing of 
voter registration forms is done by county auditors. Counties sometimes receive 
applications from individuals who are not eligible to vote because they will not turn 
18 before the next election day. The Secretary of State has allowed counties to 
accept those applications, but not proc~ss them until the applicant reaches the 
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) required age. 

3.5 Counties use different systems to alert them about applications from underage 
applicants that should be processed because the applicant has reached the 
required age. One system is to simply put the applications in a drawer, and 
physically check to see whether an applicant has reached the required age. Other 
systems involve tracking of the applicant's age by computer. 

3.6 When the counties ascertain that the applicant will be 18 by the next election, they 
submit this information to the VRDB, and the applicant is placed in "active status", 
meaning the applicant is eligible to vote (assuming there is no other impediment, 
such as a felony history). 

3.7 When the applicant is put in active status, the registration date that shows on the 
VRDB is the date the voter registration form is mailed or received. Accordingly, 
after the voter is of age, it might appear from a review of the database that the voter 
was registered too early . 

. 3.8 The Secretary of State reviews the VRDB and notifies counties when they appear 
to have activated a voter who will not be 18 by the next election. 

3.9 Thirteen individuals voted in 2006 elections in Washington state before they turned 
18. There were no underage voters in 2007. Four individuals voted in 2008 
elections in Washington state before they turned 18. Exhibit 3, p. 4; Exhibit 8, p. 2. 
David Motz, the Voter Services Manager, has investigated the four 2008 ballots. 
He has been provided an explanation of how they occurred, and is actively working 
with the counties to prevent any reoccurrence. Exhibit G, p. 2. 

3.10 The Complainant asserts that the Secretary of State should require counties to 
return applications to applicants when the applicant will not turn 18 by the next 
election. 

3.11 I find that the evidence does not support a finding that the Secretary of State has a 
policy or procedure that allows counties to register underage persons, resulting in 
underage voters. The procedures used by the counties is to not allow processing of 
applications of underage applicants, but instead to "pend" (defer action on) the 
applications. The fact that the database does not accurately reflect the date of 
registration, but instead the receipt date of the application, does not mean that the 
registration is actually happening prematurely. The fact that there were no actual ~ , 
underage votes in 2007, and only four in 2008, is strong evidence that the current 
policies are working to prevent underage registration an'd voting. 

3.12 The evidence also shows that the Secretary of State is removing underage 
. registrants from VRDB as his office learns of them. This does not, as the 
Complainant contends, show that the current system is broken,. but rather that it is 
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working. 

B. Facts Relating to whether the Secretary of State is allowing county auditors 
to delay applications from underage voters. 

3.13 As discussed above. the Secretary of State is. in fact, allowing counties to delay 
entry of applications from underage voters. The counties are delaying until the 
applicants will tum 18 by the next election. 

c. Facts Relating to Mail-In Voter Registration Form. 

3.14 The Mail-In Voter Registration Form. quoted above. does not state after the yes 
and no boxes (regarding whether the applicant is a US citizen and will be 18 on or 
before the next election date): "If you checked 'no' in response to either of these 
questions. do not complete this form." 

3.15 The U.S. Election Assistance Commission (EAC) has issued an advisory that the 
requirement in HAVA that requires the state to notify an applicant of an incomplete 
form if neither"the "yes" nor the "no" box is check is subject to state law. "This 
subsection is 'subject to state law,' so the state may choose to honor the affirmation 
fo citizenship and age that goes with the signing of the registration form and 
register a person who did not check the "yes" box. HAVA does not require 
states to redesign their state voter registration forms to include check-off 
boxes." Exhibit F. In reliance on this advice, the Secretary of State has not 
changed the Mail-In Voter Registrafion Form to add the language. Kif you checked 
'no' in response to either of these questions, do not complete this form." 

4 CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

4.1 This hearing is governed by Washington Administrative Code (WAC) Chapter 434-
263. 434-263-030 provides: 

Adoption of brief adjudicative proceedings. 

All complaints filed pursuant to this chapter shall be treated as brief 
adjudicative proceedings, and the secretary adopts RCW 34.05.482 through 
34.05.494 to govern such proceedings. The secretary has determined that 
the interests involved in such complaints do not warrant the procedures of 
RCW 34.05.413 through 34.05.479 .... 

I.havejurisdiction in this matter based on WAC 434-263-050(1)(e). 
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A. Conclusions Regarding Allegation that the Secretary of State is allowing 
counties to register underage persons. resulting in underage voters. in 
Violation of HAVA. 

4.2 Help America Vote Act (HAVA), 42 U.S.C. § 15483, provides in relevant part: 

Computerized statewide voter registration list requirements and 
requirements for voters who register by mail 

(a) Computerized statewide voter registration list requirements 

Initial Decision - Page 5 
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(1) Implementation 

(A) In general 

Except as provided in subparagraph (B), each State, acting 
through the chief State election official, shall implement, in a 
uniform and nondiscriminatory manner, a single, uniform, 
official, centralized, interactive computerized statewide voter 
registration list defined, maintained, and administered at the 
State level that contains the name and registration information 
of every legally registered voter in the State and assigns a 
unique identifier to each legally registered voter in the State (in 
this subsection referred to as the Ucomputerized list"), and 
includes the following: 

(i) The computerized list shall serve as the single 
system for storing and managing the official list of 
registered voters throughout the State. 

(ii) The computerized list contains the name and 
registration information of every legally registered voter 
in the State. 

(vi) All voter registration information obtained by 
any local election official in the State shall be 
electronically entered into the computerized list on 
an expedited basis at the time the information is 
provided to the local official. 

(vii) The chief State election official shall provide such 
support as may be required so that local election 
officials are able to enter information as described in . 
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clause (vi). 

(viii) The computerized list shall serve as the official 
voter registration list for the conduct of all elections for 
Federal office in the State. 

(2) Computerized list maintenance 

(A) In general 

The appropriate State or local election official shall 
perform list maintenance with respect to the 
computerized list on a regular basis ... 

(8) Conduct 

The list maintenance performed under subparagraph (A) shall 
be conducted in a manner that ensures that-

(i) the name of each registered voter appears in the 
computerized list; 

(ii) only voters who are not registered or who are not 
. eligible to vote are removed from the computerized list; 

and 

(iii) duplicate names are eliminated from the 
computerized list. 

(4) Minimum standard for accuracy of State voter registration records 

The State election system shall include provisions to ensure that voter 
registration records in the State are accurate and are updated 
regularly, including the following: 

(A) A system of file maintenance that makes a reasonable 
~ffort to remove registrants who are ineligible to vote from the 
official list of eligible voters .... 

(8) Safeguards to ensure that eligible voters are not removed 
in error from the official list of eligible voters. [Emphasis 
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added). 

4.3 I conclude that the Complainanthas not shown a violation of HAVA with respect to 
allowing counties to accept registrations form underage applicants, and then pend 
these for processing until·the applicant will be 18 years old by the next election. 
There is no .evidence that this procedure allows underage applicants to actually 
show up on the computerized database as registered voters. They should not 
appear on the database until after they have reached the required age. If, despite 
precautions put in place, some applicants slip through the cracks, there are 
processes to remove them from the database. 

4.4 Moreover, HAVA requires only that the Secretary of State make a reasonable effort 
to remove registrants who are ineligible to vote. It does not discuss steps to 
prevent erroneous registration of underage voters, bther than the provisions of the 
Mail-In Voter Registration Form, discussed below. There is no evidence that the 
Secretary of State is failing to make reasonable efforts to remove registrants who 
are ineligible to vote, or is failing in any duty with respect to list maintenance. 

4.5 

B. Conclusions Regarding Allegation that the Secretary of State is allowing 
countv auditors to delay applications from underage voters. 

42U.S.C. § 15483(a)(1)(A)(vi), quoted in context above, provides in relevant part: 

All voter registration information obtained by any local election official in the 
State shall be electronically entered into the computerized list on an 
expedited basis at the time the information is provided to the local official. 

The Complainant argues that the process of allowing counties to pend applications 
from underage voters violates this provision. 

4.6 I reject the Complainant's argument, because HAVA only requires registration of 
applicants who are eligible and who. submit complete applications. Indeed, it 
clearly does not require processing of incomplete forms, but instead requires that 
the applicant be given the opportunity to complete the form in a timely manner. 42 
U.S.C. § 15483(b)(4)(8). It would be an absurd reading ofthe statute to require an 
expedited processing of an application from an ineligible applicant, where the 

. application on its face shows that the applicant will.become eligible through the 
mere passage of time. 

B. Conclusions Regarding Mail-In Voter Registration Form. 

4.7 ·42 U.S.C. § 15483(b)(4) provides in relevant part: 

Contents of mail-in registration form 
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4.8 

4.9 

(A) In general 

The mail voter registration form developed under section 6 of the 
National Voter Registration Act of 1~93 (42 U.S.C. 1973gg--4) shall 
include the following: 

(i) The question "Are you a citizen of the United States of 
America?" and boxes for the applicant to check to indicate 
whether the applicant is or is not a citizen of the United States. 

(ii) The question ·Will you be 18 years of age on or before 
electiondayT and boxes for the applicant to check to indicate 
whether or not the applicant will be 18 years of age or older on 
election day. 

(iii) The statement &&/fyou checked 'no' in response to 
either of these questions, do not complete this form. ". 

(8) Incomplete forms 

If an applicant for voter registration fails to answer the question 
included on the l'J1ail voter registration form pursuant to subparagraph 
(A)(i) , the registrar shall notify the applicant of the failure and provide 
the applicant with an opportunity to complete the form in a timely 
manner to allow for the completion of the registration form prior to the 
next election for Federal office (subject to State law). [Emphasis 
added]. 

The Complainant argues that the "subject to State law" language only relates to the 
section regarding providing the applicant the opportunity to complete an. incomplete 
form in a timely manner. The placement of that language within subsection (8) 
appears to support the Complainant's position. Nevertheless, the Complainant's 
position is not the position of the U.S. Election Assistance Commission (EAC). 
According to advice from EAC, HAVA does not even require states to redesign 
their state voter registration forms to include the check-off boxes. As the federal 
agency charged with guidance regarding HAVA, it is appropriate to defer to the 
EAC's interpretation. I find the EAC's interpretation to be reasonable. If the 
"subject to State law" language applies to the part of 42 U.S.C. § 1S483(b)(4)(A) 
relating to check-off boxes, it logically also applies to the other requirements of 42 
U.S.C. § 1S483(b)(4)(A). The Complainant does notargue that the Mail-In Voter 
Registration form violates Washington state law. 

In sum, the allegations in the Complaint are not supported by the "evidence or the 
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relevant law. 

5 ORDER 

5.1 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, That the Complaint is DISMISSED. 

SERVED on the date of mailing. 

Reb~ 
Administrative Law Judge 
Office of Administrative Hearings 

NOTICE TO THE PARTIES 

Pursuant to WAC 434-263-070 and RCW 34.05.485, any aggrieved party may request an 
administrative review of this initial decision with the Secretary of State. If the Secretary 
does not receive a request, in writing, for an administrative review within twenty-one days 
of service of this initial decision, then this initial decision automatically becomes the final 
determination. If the parties have not requested an administrative review, the Secretary 
may review this adjudication on his own motion as provided by RCW 34.05.491. The 
reviewing offiqar shall give each party an opportunity to explain the party's view ofthe 
matter, but must render a final determination within ninety days after the original filing of the 
complaint unless the complainant consents to a longer period. The determination of the 
reviewing officer is final and no further administrative review is available. The final 
determination shall include notice that judicial review may be available. 
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SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

ROBERT EDELMAN, 

v. 

SECRETARY OF STATE, 

Complainant, 

Re ondent. 

NO.2008-S0S-0001 

FINAL DETERMINATION 

INmODUCTION 

1. This is a brief a.djudicative proceeding, brought under the authority of WAC 434-

263. The matter comes before me as the reviewing officer on administrative review of an Initial 

Decision issued by an Administrative Law Judge, dismissing the Complaint. The Complainant 

has sought administrative review. As explained more fully below, I GRANT in part and DENY 

in part the relief requested in the Complaint. 

NATURE OF PROCEEDING 

2. The Complainant, Mr. Robert Edelman, commenced this administrative 

proceeding on June 13, 2008, by filing with the Office of the Secretary of State an administrative 

Complaint under the federal Help America Vote Act of2002 (HA VAHPublic Law 107-252) and 

WAC 434-263. 
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3. Section 402 of HAVA (codified as 42 U.S.C. § 15512) reqUlres that states 

receiving federal funds under HA VA must establish a state-based administrative complaint 

procedure pelmitting any person who believes that there is a violation of title III ofHAVA to file 

a complaint. The Legislature has authorized the Secretary of State to implement this procedure 

by administrative rule. RCW 29A.04.6JJ(52). The Secretary has done so by adopting chapter 

434-263 WAC, under which this Complaint was filed and considered. 

4. Mr. Edelman's Complaint alleges three violations of 42 U.S.c. § 

15483(a)(l)(A)(i). That federal statute was enacted as part of title III of HAVA, specifically 

HAVA § 303. The Complaint accordingly raises allegations that, if correct, fall within the scope 

of this administrative complaint procedure. The three alleged violations consist of contcntions 

that the Secretary of State allows counties to improperly register underage persons as voters, 

allows county auditors to improperly delay processing of applications for voter registration from 

underage voters, and that the mail-in voter registration form fails to include a particular warning 

statement. 

5. The Secretary has, by rule, designated complaints filed under WAC 434-263 as 

brief adjudicative proceedings, and adopted by reference RCW 34.05.482 through 34.05.494 to 

govem such proceedings. WAC 434-263-030. 

6. The Office of Administrative Hearings assigned Administrative Law Judge 

Rebekah R. Ross to this proceeding. and she served as presiding ofticer pursuant to WAC 434-

263-050(1)(e). 

7. Mr. Edelman was represented by counsel, Jonathan Bechtle, attomey at law. 

8. The views of the staff of the Elections Division of the Secretary of State were 

presented through Shane Hamlin, Assistant Director of Elections, Paul Miller, Technical 
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Services Manager, and David Motz, Voter Services Manager. Assistant Attorney General 

Spencer Daniels represented the elections division staff. 

9. Judge Ross held a telephonic prehearing conference on July 31, 2008, at which 

both parties were invited to participate in discussions on procedure. Both parties concurred that 

the Complaint would be resolved based on argument of counsel and written exhibits, which were 

agreed to at that time. A date of August 15, 2008, was set at that time. 

10.. Judge Ross received briefing and written exhibits from both parties to the 

proceedings, and held a hearing on the record on August 15, 2008. The hearing consisted of oral 

argument of counsel, which was consistent with the written briefing. 

II. On August 19, 2008, Judge Ross issued an Initial Decision in this matter, ordering 

that the Complaint be dismissed. The Initial Decision included notice to the parties that any 

aggrieved party may request an administrative review of the initial decision. A copy of that 

Initial Decision is attached to this Final Detennination, and incorporated herein by reference. 

12. On September 8, 2008, the Secretary's office received from Mr. Edelman's 

counsel a request for administrative review of the initial decision. The Secretary of State 

designated me as the reviewing officer pursuant to WAC 434-263-070. 

13. A final detennination is required within 90 days after the Complaint is filed, 

unless the Complainant consents to a longer period, or a procedure for alternative dispute 

resolution must be employed. 42 U.S.c. § 15512; WAC 434-263-080. The ninetieth day after 

the filing of Mr. Edelman's complaint is September 11, 2008. Mr. Edellnan has consented, 

through counsel, to an extension of the 90-day time limit by one day, to September 12,2008. 

III 

III 

III 
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COMPLAINANT'S REQUEST FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF REVIE\VING 
OFFICER 

14. The reviewing officer pursuant to WAC. 434-263-070 may be the Secretary of 

State, Assistant or Deputy Secretary of State, or the Director of Elections. I am the Director of 

Elections, and the Secretary has designated me in writing as the reviewing officer. 

15. In his request for administrative review, Mr. Edelman asserted that none of the 

officials designated by WAC 434-263-070 could serve as reviewing officer. Noting that the 

actions of the Secretary's office are at issue in this Complaint, Mr. Edelman asserts that all of the 

officers who could potentially be designated to serve as reviewing officer be disqualified 

pursuant to RCW 34.05.425. Mr. Edelman has not supported this contention with argument or 

citations to authority, but has merely asserted that the issues raised by the Complaint relate to 

actions ofthe Secretary's office. 

16. I reject this request and conclude that I am qualified to serve as reviewing officer 

pursuant to RCW 34.05.425 and WAC 434-263-070. I base this conclusion on the following 

facts and reasons. 

17. I note. as a finding of fact, that upon the filing of this Complaint the Office of 

Secretary of State established an internal screen, pursuant to which various functions were 

divided among staff and separate counsel from the Attorney General's Office were retained. 

Assistant Director of Elections Shane Hamlin and others 011 the staff of the Elections Division 

were designated to present the views of staff, and were represented for this purpose by Assistant 

Attorney General Spencer Daniels. Secretary Reed and myself, as well as Assistant Secretary of 

State Steve Excel~ and Deputy Secretary of State Dan Speigle, were screened from this function 

ill recognition of the fact that under WAC 434-263-070 we could be designated as the reviewing 

officer. Staff members were instructed not to discuss the matter with us, and we did not have 
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access to materials related to the Complaint, other than to the Complaint itself. Until after the 

Initial Decision was issued, we were unaware of specific events in these proceedings and did not 

participate in discussions, and did not see documentation, concerning the matter. Even after the 

Initial Decision was issued, we took no part in, and were unaware of, any discussions between 

Mr. Hamlin and other staff with their counsel, Mr. Daniels. Similarly, our regular general 

counsel, Deputy Solicitor General Jeffrey T. Even, was screened from his colleague in the 

Attorney General's Office, Mr. Daniels, and from Elections Division staff, so that Mr. Even 

would be available to provide independent counsel to the reviewing officer. 

18. A reviewing officer is poteritially subject to disqualification for bias, prejudice, 

interest, or any other cause for which a judge may be disqualified. RCW 34.05.425(3). No such 

cause is present in this matter, because I have been screened from this proceeding as described 

above. Mr. Edelman offers no indication of personal bias or prejudice, either on my part or the 

part of other potential reviewing officers permitted by WAC 434-263-070. See CJC Canon 3(0). 

19. Moreover, the merits of the Complaint relate to official functions of the Secretary 

of State related to the administration of elections, in which the interest of the Office is to improve 

. performance and to resolve any deficiencies in current practices. The Legislature has delegated 

the function of implementing the administrative complaint procedure required by federal law to 

the Secretary of State. RCW 29A.04.611(52). Mr. Edelman's request essentially amounts to a 

request that the Office of the Secretary of State be entirely disqualified from making a decision 

that has been specifically delegated by statute to this Office. This request sweeps too broadly, as 

it is in the nature of an administrative hearing that the final decision will typically reside with 

head of the responsible agency, or his or her designee. RCW 34.05.491 (administrative review 

in brief adjudicative proceedings); RCW 34.05.464 (providing for administrative review of 

initial decisions by an agency head or his. or her designee). The Secretary arranged for an 
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Administrative Law Judge from the Office of Administrative Hearings to serve as presiding 

officer in this matter, but final decision-making authority is ultimately vested in the elected 

Secretary, as the chief elections officer of this state, or in his designee. !d.; RCW 

29A.04.61l(52) (delegation ofHAVA complaints to Secretary); RCW 29A.04.230 (Secretary of 

State serves as chief elections officer). By law,. the reviewing officer must be a person 

"authorized to grant appropriate relief upon review." RCW 34.05.491. Mr. Edelman's request 

for disqualification would effectively exclude anybody with authority to do so, and is 

accordingly denied. 

THE PARTIES HAVE RECEIVED AN OPPORTUNITY TO EXPLAIN THEIR 
VIEWS OF THE MATTER ON ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW 

·2'0. Mr. Edelman's request for administrative review states the grounds upon which 

he contends the Initial Decision erred. Mr. Edelman also noted that the allotted 90-day time 

period for a final detennination of this Complaint would expire shortly. 

21. The Complainant indicated in his request for administrative review that he desired 

to submit additional evidence and argument regarding the Initial Decision. On September 9, 

2008, I notified both counsel of their opportunity to further state their views of this matter, by 

10:00 AM on September II, to provide the Respondent an opportunity to respond. At that time I 

stated that I considered the factual record to have been closed, and to be limited to the exhibits 

submitted prior to the hearing. Before the September 11 deadline, I received Mr. Edelman's 

Memorandum in Support of Request for Administrative Review and the Response of Respondent 

to Complainant's Appeal From the Initial Decision. I also timely received Mr. Edelman's 

Motion for Reconsideration of Decision to Deny New Evidence, to which I next tum. 

III 

//1 
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REQUEST TO CONSIDER ADDITIONAL FACTUAL MATERIAL 

22. In response to my indication that the factual record is closed, Mr. Edelman 

fonnally moved for reconsideration of the decision not to permit the submission of new evidence 

at this· stage of the proceeding, and tendered an offer of proof consisting of the additional 

exhibits he proposed to submit. Complainant contended that he did not possess the additional 

evidence prior to the hearing, explaining that he obtained it through a request for public records 

after the issuance of the Initial Decision. Motion for ReconsideraHon of Decision to Deny New 

Evidence, Exhibits 10 through 14. Mr. Edelman subsequently acknowledged possession of a 

portion of this evidence prior to the original deadline for the submission of exhibits. 

23. Respondent objected to the introduction of new evidence at this stage, on the basis 

that all of the additional exhibits could have been obtained and submitted prior to the close of the 

record. I took Mr. Edelman's request under advisement, and stated that I would resolve it in this 

decision. I also offered to the Respondent the opportunity to submit a response to the 

Complainant's additional evidence by 10:00 AM on September 12. Respondent timely 

submitted written argument addressing the additional evidence on September 12, which I have 

read. 

24. I now grant the Complainant's Motion For Reconsideration of Decision To Deny 

New Evidence, and admit Exhibits 10 through 14, attached to that motion, into evidence. I 

concur with the Respondent's argument that Complainant's evidence could have been obtained 

and submitted earlier, and a sufficient legal basis exists upon which I could exclude that 

evidence. I nonetheless exercise my discretion in this particular case to admit the evidence in the 

interest of creating a more complete record. The objective of an administrative complaint under 

HA VA and WAC 434-263 is to improve the future administration of elections. In this instance, 

the additional evidence suggests at least one way in which this can be accomplished. I also note, 
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for future reference, that proceedings such as this one would benefit from diligent preparation 

that would give the presiding officer an opportunity to consider all evidence, and would make 

last minute additions to the factual record, such as this one, ulU1ecessary. 

above. 

25. I make the following findings of fact based upon the additional exhibits admitted 

a. I find that Exhibit lO does not contradict, as Mr. Edelman contends, the 

finding of fact that the procedures were in place to identify and remove 

underage voters from the registration rolls, or that county auditors have 

procedures for addressing under age registrations. See Initial Decision, ~ 3.11. 

Exhibit 10 merely establishes that the Secretary does not have the specific, 

fonnal, documented procedures Mr. Edelman requested in his public records 

request. In fuct, the evidence in the record demonstrates that the Elections 

Division was actively monitoring underage registration, both with respect to 

the Voter Registration Data Base and through communications with the 

counties. Statement of Position of Secretary of State, Elections Division, at 6-

7; see also Declaration of Miller, ~ 4 (verifying description of voter 

registration process); Declaration of Motz, ~ 3 (verifyil1g infonnation 

regarding numbers of voters). This is not to say that the Elections Division 

should 110t have specific documented procedures, as discussed below. 

b. J find that Exhibits "11 and 12 do not contradict, as Mr. Edelman contends, the 

findings of fact that the Secretary has a reasonable process in place to identify 

and remove ineligible underage voters, or that very few underage voters are 

actually placed into the database as active registered voters while still 

ineligible to vote. See Initial Decision, '1 3.12. Tothe contrary, Exhibits 11 
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and 12 support these findings by demonstrating that the Secretary's staff took 

action to accomplish these objectives. Although Exhibits II and 12 suggest 

that continued improvements 10 these procedures are possible, they also 

demonstrate that in February 2008 Respondent notified counties of apparent 

underage voters contemporaneously with the election, and further demonstrate 

that by August 2008 Respondent was reviewing county entries into the 

database for underage voters daily. See Ex. G-Declaration of David Motz at 

"7. 
c. With regard to Exhibit 13, I find that, as explained in that exhibit, the data that 

Mr. Edelman requested in his August 18, 2008, public records request could 

110t be provided before September 25, 2008, because of the technical difficulty 

of restoring data from computer back up tapes. At most this indicates that the 

Elections Division staff did not review the specific data that Mr. Edelman 

recently requested. The Elections Division was, however, able to determine 

through other data that voters Mr. Edelman claimed were improperly 

registered were 110 longer active as of August 1, 2008. Exhibit G. Exhibit 13 

does not contradict the finding that the registration date shown in the voter 

registration data base is the date a voter registration form was mailed or 

received, and that this date does not demonstrate that a voter was registered 

too early. See Initial Decision, ~ 3.7; see also Statement of Position of 

Secretary of State, Elections Division, at 9; see also Declaration of Miller, 114 

(verifying description of voter registration process); Declaration of Motz, 11 3 

(verifying infonnation regarding numbers of voters). 
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d. I find that Exhibit 14 does not contradict, as Mr. Edelman contends, the 

finding of fact. that the staff of the Elections Division is actively working with 

the counties to prevent the reoccurrence of past instances of underage voting. 

See Initial Decision, 11 3.9. To the contrary, Exhibit 14 documents such 

action. Nor does Exhibit 14 support Mr. Edelman's view that three counties 

are not taking corrective action to prevent future underage registrations. To 

the contrary, Exhibit 14 documents the nature of the errors that resulted in 

specific incidents of underage voting, and states that each of the counties 

involved were, as of July 14, 2008, using specific processes to prevent their 

recurrence. 

ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW 

26. I have fully reviewed Mr. Edelman's request for administrative review, and the 

materials filed by counsel for the respective parties on September 11, 2008, which consist of: 

• Mr. Edelman's Memorandum in Support of Request for Administrative Review; 

• Mr. Edelman's Motion for Reconsideration of Decision to Deny New Evidence; 

• Response of Respondent to Complainant's Appeal From Initial Decision; 

• Respondent's objection (by email) to request for new ev~dence; and 

• Respondent's Response to Complainant'S Motion for Reconsideration of Decision 

to Deny New Evidence. 

27. I have also fully reviewed the agency record compiled before Judge Ross, as well 

as her Initial Decision. I have also listened to the audio recordings of the prehearing conference 

held on July 31, 2008 (22 minutes in length), and the hearing held on August 1 S, 2008 (48 

minutes in length). Based upon this review, I conclude as follows. 
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28. There is no reason to convert this proceeding into a fonnal adjudicative 

proceeding under RCW 34.05.491(3). The issues oflaw raised by the Complaint can be fully 

resolved based upon the factual materials presented prior to the Initial Decision, and both 

counsel have had sufficient opportunity to briefissues oflaw. 

29. I conclude that, "It is the policy of the state of Washington to encourage every 

eligible person to register to vote and to participate fully in all elections, and to protect the 

integrity of the electoral process by providing equal access to the process while guarding against 

discdmination and fraud." RCW 29A.04.205. Encouraging registration and participation by 

young adults is just as essential to instilling democratic values as is the discouragement of 

premature voting by those who have not yet attained the age of majority. 

30. Thus there are two dimensions to state policy regarding voter registration: not 

only should the rolls of registered voters not include ineligible individuals, but they should 

include eligible voters who submit complete and timely applications for registration. Mr. 

Edelman stresses only one of these policies, the suppression of ineligible registrations: but the 

Secretary must seek to implement both policies. Accordingly, the danger of pennitting an 

ineligible voter to become registered can only be minimized while also attempting to avoid the 

danger of denying the franchise to those eligible to register and vote. J 

31. Were I to grant in full the relief requested, I would risk denying eligible voters the 

right to vote, without at the same time adding meaningfully to the safeguards against voting by 

ineligible underage voters. 

I Were I of a mind to phrase the matter more colorfully, I would compare tlle task at hand to the legendary 
goal of steering "between Scylla and Charybdis." Accordi;'lg to myth, Scylla and Charybdis were sea monsters, 
lying on opposite sides of a narrow channel, such that sailors allcmpting to avoid one would sail too close to the 
other and perish as a result .. See http://cn.wikipeUia.org/wikiJCharybdis.Mr. Edelman stresses solely the avoidance 
orone monster; the Secretary must devote due diligence to both. 
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32. J adopt all of the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the Initial 

Decision rendered by Administrative Law Judge Rebekah R. Ross, as supplemented by the 

additional findings of fact stated in this Final Determination, except as modified below. I 

accordingly attach a full and complete copy of the hlitial Decision and incorporate it in this Final 

Detcnninatiol1 by this reference. 

MODIFICATIONS TO INITIAL DECISION 

33. I conclude that there is at least possible merit - as a matter of policy, not legal 

requirement - to the contention that the voter registration form should include the statement set 

forth in 42 U.S.C. § 15483(b)(4)(A)(iii). I accordingly modify the Initial Decision by instructing 

the slaff of the Ejections Division to fully consider this matter, and to report back to me by 

January 5, 2009, with a proposed modified voter registration fonn that contains, in association 

with the "check box" questions concerning age and citizenship, the statement, "If you checked 

. 'no' in response to either of these questions, do not complete this form." Along with this 

proposal for a revised fonn, I direct staff to provide me with their written analysis and 

recommendations regarding both the potential advantages and disadvantages of this change, 

including an evaluation of the potential for such a change to discourage registration by both 

ineligible and eligible individuals. 

34. I also conclude that practices and procedures designed to both minimize 

registration and voting by ineligible voters and to maximize registration and voting by eligible 

voters could be improved by developing carefully written practices and procedures. 

accordingly direct the staff of the Elections Division, also by January 5,2009, to develop written 

practices and procedures for use in (1) screening applications for voter registration for underage 

voters; (2) periodically checking for and removing underage voters from the Voter Registration 

Database; (3) communicating with County Auditors regarding potential or actual underage 
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voting; and (4) communicating with county prosecuting attorneys in cases of probable criminal 

activity. These practices and procedures must be consistent with the state policies set forth 

above, and balance the encouragement of registration and voting by those eligible with practical 

steps to prevent or detect underage v?ting. I also direct staff to consider the degree (if any) to 

which such practices and procedures should, or must, be set forth in administrative rule. 

the Complaint is GRANTED as provided in paragraphs~and • above, and DENIED in all 

35. IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, based on th~£oreg~o~g, that the relief requested in 

other respects. . ~ 
DATED this 12'h day of September, 2008. 

Nick Handy 
Director of Elections 
Reviewing Officer. by q signation of 
Secretary of State 

NOTICE TO PARTIES 

. This determination is the final administrative resolution of this complaint, and no further 
administrative review is available. WAC 434-263-070. Judicial review of this final 
detennination may be available under chapter 34.05 RCW. 
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